
Date Published:10 January 2022     

Constitution Committee

Monday 17 January 2022 at 2.00 pm

Please note that this meeting will be held remotely and can be
viewed on the County Council website at www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Simon Harper

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 4)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 18 November 2021.

Simon Harper

3  MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

To answer any written members’ questions. The closing date/time for the 
receipt of questions is 10am on 12 January 2022.

Simon Harper

4  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

To answer any written public questions about matters which are within the 
powers and duties of the Committee. 

The closing date and time for receipt of questions is 10am on 12 January 
2022.

Simon Harper

5  INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL 2021/22 REPORT 
(Pages 5 - 10)

Richard 
Blamey

6  PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS (Pages 11 - 14) Simon Harper

7  PENSIONS COMMITTEE REPORT (Pages 15 - 22) Matthew 
Trebilcock

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/


    

8  UPDATE TO THE COUNCIL'S CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 
(Pages 23 - 40)

To note the attached report.

Rob Ayliffe

Membership –  Cllr John Bloxsom, Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE (Chair), Cllr Colin Hay, 
Cllr Jeremy Hilton, Cllr Paul Hodgkinson, Cllr Dr Andrew Miller, Cllr David Norman MBE, 
Cllr Philip Robinson and Cllr Lynden Stowe 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer, 
(Rob Ayliffe Tel:01452 328506/ e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the 
start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Sophie Benfield, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324094/ e-mail: sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c)

(d) 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Members are required to sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see page 81 of 

the Constitution).

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Constitution Committee held on Thursday 18 November 
2021 at 10.30am.

PRESENT:
Cllr John Bloxsom
Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE 
(Chair)
Cllr Colin Hay (Vice-chair)
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson

Cllr Dr Andrew Miller
Cllr David Norman MBE
Cllr Philip Robinson
Cllr Lynden Stowe

16. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Cllr Jeremy Hilton

17. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

No questions had been received from members of the public.

18. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

No questions had been received from members.

19. CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

Rob Ayliffe, Monitoring Officer and Director of Policy, Performance and 
Governance, presented the report included in the agenda pack.  He explained that 
the main changes to Contract Procedure Rules related to financial thresholds 
around direct awards, dynamic purchasing systems, value of contracts and visibility 
of contracts.  It was proposed that grants would be transferred across to Finance 
Procedure Rules.  A  Government White Paper on contract procedure rules would 
be published in the future, although the exact timing was not known.  This would 
cover social value including climate change.

Steve Mawson, Section 151 Officer and Executive Director: Corporate Resources, 
explained that the current contract procedure rules were lengthy.  The new version 
simplified the rules and provided a better understanding of risk areas where the 
Procurement Team was likely to need to provide advice.  Referring to the 
Procurement Toolkit, he said that it could be circulated to members of the 
committee for information when it had been finalised.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2

mailto:angeliquedboure@nhs.net
mailto:angeliquedboure@nhs.net


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Vice-chair, Cllr Colin Hay, hoped that lessons had been learnt from the external 
auditor’s value-for-money report on the energy from waste facility at Javelin Park, 
one of the biggest contracts that the Council had ever entered into.  He was 
anxious that social value including climate change was addressed and he hoped 
that this would be covered when the report was presented at the next Council 
meeting.

Steve Mawson said that improving transparency of contracts was a key component 
of the new procedure rules.  More reporting to the Audit and Governance 
Committee would improve visibility of contracts to members.  Rob Ayliffe advised 
that the Council already subscribed to the social value portal and all Cabinet 
decisions were subject to a climate change impact assessment.   

A member noted that the Government Green Paper made reference to economic, 
environmental and social outcomes.  Another member stated that the dynamic 
purchasing system for transport contracts already included scoring for social value.  
A member believed that it was essential that the toolkit addressed issues around 
climate change.

RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO THE COUNCIL that it notes the comments 
made by members and adopts the revised Contract Procedure Rules (as amended) 
set out in the report for inclusion in the Council Constitution.
 

20. FINANCE PROCEDURE RULES 

In presenting the report, Steve Mawson, Section 151 Officer and Executive 
Director: Corporate Resources, stated that the changes to Finance Procedure 
Rules were relatively minor and were largely a tidying up exercise. The position 
regarding the treatment of under spends and over spends had been clarified and, 
as previously explained, the rules relating to grants had been transferred over from 
the Contract Procedure Rules.  He explained that a Finance Manual sat under the 
Finance Procedure Rules to provide detailed advice and guidance to officers. 

Answering questions, he stated that maintaining the Finance Manual including 
making changes was his responsibility as Section 151 Officer.  Any changes had to 
be in line with the Finance Procedure Rules otherwise a report would have to be 
presented to the Constitution Committee to allow consideration of changes to the 
procedure rules in the Council Constitution.  He undertook to send members of the 
committee a copy of the manual.  He said that he would liaise with the Monitoring 
Officer to consider what process could be in put in place to keep members informed 
of subsequent changes to the manual.  

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Answering further questions, he said that he was aware of the issues raised by the 
Local Government Association around treasury management including borrowing.  
It was likely that a report relating to this would be presented to a future meeting. 
Referring to Finance Procedure Rule C10: security of assets, he assured members 
that, where similar assets were disposed of, the cumulative value was applied in 
calculating whether it was above the £5,000 limit for Director approval. He 
recognised that there might be some value in making provision for ‘book losses’ of 
assets in the rules.

RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO THE COUNCIL that it notes the comments 
made by members and adopts the revised Finance Procedure Rules (as amended) 
set out in the report for inclusion in the Council Constitution. 

The meeting ended at 11.40 am

CHAIR

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Independent Remuneration Panel

Constitution Committee – 17 January 2022

1 Introduction

1.1 This report has been produced by the Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) 
made up of members drawn from the local community. The Panel is independent 
of the Council and its role is to make recommendations on the level of 
allowances paid to councillors. The object being to promote access to all in our 
diverse community who may wish to stand for election to serve that community 
via the democratic process.

1.2 The members of the Panel:

Richard Blamey Former head of pensions with a large multi-national 
industrial gas company. Currently a pensions’ trustee and 
appointed chair of the Tewkesbury IRP. Also serves as 
treasurer and member of his local parish council.

 Philip Lowery Former adviser to the Social Services Committee.  
Member of the Independent Advisory Group to the 
Gloucestershire Constabulary.

 Fiona Miles Former Clinical Nurse Specialist in Respiratory Medicine.  
Involved in Gloucestershire Girl Guiding and a parish 
councillor.

 
 Quentin Tallon Former Secretary of Cheltenham and District TUC. 

Involved with the voluntary sector.

1.3 The IRP’s recommendations are in accordance with the following statutory 
provisions:

1.3.1 Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and Local Government Act 2006

1.3.2 The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 
(‘The Allowances Regulations’)

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



2 Review process 

2.1 Interviews were held with councillors during the Autumn 2021, a number of which 
took place virtually from Shire Hall.  The virtual meetings were not a success and 
were not helped by technical issues.  The Panel wish to stress the value of face-
to-face meetings.

2.2 The interviews provided an insight into the work of councillors and a number of 
new members took the opportunity to tell the panel about their initial experiences.   

2.3 It remains evident from the interviews that there is a strong sense of commitment 
to their local communities amongst both returning and new county councillors in 
Gloucestershire.

2.4 IRP members greatly appreciate the work that Richard Blamey, chair of the 
panel, does in leading the Panel and have requested that this is formally 
recorded. They also would like to thank the staff from Democratic Services for the 
support they provide to the Panel including the research relating to other local 
authority schemes.  

3 Allowances

3.1 No recommendations were made for increases in allowances for the 2021-22 
financial year as we were mindful that any proposed increase was likely to be 
contentious in an election year. 

3.2 The current allowances are shown at Appendix A

3.3 At the request of the Panel, Democratic Services undertook a review of 
allowance schemes for all county councils in England. Basic allowances have 
increased over the last few years with a median basic allowance of £11,210 
across county councils.  Although there is much variation, our current rates of 
Special Responsibility Allowance are in line with other county councils. 

3.4 In previous years the increase in allowances has broadly been based on the staff 
pay settlement for the previous year but this has still to be agreed for 2021-22.

3.5 The IRP is mindful of the financial hardship that some residents have suffered 
through the Covid-19 pandemic. We believe, however, that it is important that the 
Council does not fall too far behind the level of other local authorities.  We 
propose that the Basic Allowance is increased by £250 to £10,750 and that the 
SRA's are maintained at their current levels. 

Page 6



3.6 We are not supportive of automatic increases each year as we believe that it is 
important to assess the level of allowances to reflect the latest position at the 
Council.  There would also be delays in implementing increases as annual staff 
pay rises are often subject to protracted negotiations which result in increases 
being backdated over a number of months.

3.7 A number of councillors are using bicycles to travel to meetings and to recognise 
this, and encourage more councillors to do the same, we believe that a cycling 
allowance should be introduced at an equivalent rate to the mileage rate for cars. 
The overall number of miles travelled by bicycle will be relatively low so the 
additional cost is insignificant.

3.8 In terms of travelling, we are aware that some councillors have to travel long 
distances within their divisions to meet with GCC officers to look at a particular 
issue of concern.  While the cost of travelling to see constituents is included 
within the Basic Allowance, we believe that councillors should be able to be claim 
travelling costs when they are meeting with a GCC officer.  We understand and 
support a pragmatic approach is being taken by Democratic Services.

3.9 Some members appear to be unaware that they can donate their allowance to a 
charitable organisation as part of the Gift Aid provisions.  If there are any 
members who wish to do this then they should contact Democratic Services who 
will be able to make the necessary arrangements with GCC Payroll.  

3.10 We understand that the Council is currently going through a major ICT 
transformation which should address the ICT issues that some members referred 
to during the interviews. It is pleasing to note that new councillors were 
particularly complimentary about how they had been welcomed at the Council 
and the helpfulness of officers.

4 Recommendations for the 2022-23 financial year

4.1 To increase the Basic Allowance from £10,500 to £10,750 

4.2 To maintain Special Responsibility Allowances at their current level

4.3 To include a cycling travel allowance at the same rate as car mileage

4.4 To note the revised Members’ Allowances Scheme for 2021-22 at Appendix B to 
the report.

Richard Blamey
Chair of the Independent Remuneration Panel for Gloucestershire County Council 

Page 7



      APPENDIX A

Current allowances for 2021-22

Basic Allowance payable to all 53 members: £10,500

Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA) Positions Allowance

Leader of the Council 1 £34,170

Group leader with 5 or more members 2 £  6,360
(not Leader of the Council)

Group leader with less than 5 members 1 £  5,088
(0.2 per group member – min 2 members)

Cabinet member 9 £19,130

Scrutiny chair 7 £  6,360

Audit and Governance Committee chair 1 £  6,360

Planning Committee chair 1 £  6,360

Pensions Committee chair 1 £  6,360

Chair of Council 1 £  9,570

Vice-chair of Council 1 £  2,860

Fostering Panel member 2 £  5,730

Page 8



APPENDIX B

Proposed  allowances for 2022-23

Basic Allowance payable to all 53 members: £10,750

Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA) Positions Allowance

Leader of the Council 1 £34,170

Group leader with 5 or more members 2 £  6,360
(not Leader of the Council)

Group leader with less than 5 members 1 £  5,088
(0.2 per group member – min 2 members)

Cabinet member 9 £19,130

Scrutiny chair 7 £  6,360

Audit and Governance Committee chair 1 £  6,360

Planning Committee chair 1 £  6,360

Pensions Committee chair 1 £  6,360

Chair of Council 1 £  9,570

Vice-chair of Council 1 £  2,860

Fostering Panel member 2 £  5,730

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Questions at full Council, committee and Cabinet meetings

Constitution Committee – 17 January 2022

1 Background

1.1 At the meeting of the Constitution Committee held on 11 October 2021, 
members requested that a detailed report be brought to a future meeting 
setting out the deadlines for both public and member questions at full Council, 
committee and Cabinet meetings.  

1.2 After a lengthy discussion at the same meeting, it was agreed that Cabinet 
Decision Statements and Individual Cabinet Member Decision Statements 
would no longer be included on the Council agenda as member questions 
provided an opportunity for members to ask about decisions taken by the 
Cabinet and individual Cabinet Member.  As a compromise, a 
recommendation was made for the time limit for members questions to be 
increased from 30 to 45 minutes.  The recommendation was not considered at 
the last full Council meeting as it was felt that more time was required to allow 
a better understanding of all the issues including the deadline for the 
publication of agenda papers.

2 Constitution

2.1 Procedural Standing Order 8 of Part 4 of the Council Constitution provides for 
up to 30 minutes for written and urgent questions from members of the public 
at each ordinary meeting of the Council (excluding the first annual meeting of 
a new Council). Members of the public are defined as people who live or work 
in Gloucestershire or who are affected by the work of the Council

2.2 The question must relate to the powers and duties of the Council and a written 
copy needs to be delivered to the Chief Executive by 10.00am four clear 
working days before the date of the meeting. For a Council meeting on a 
Wednesday that means that the deadline for public questions is 10am on the 
Wednesday in the week before the meeting.  

2.3 In addition, the Constitution allows a member of the public to ask an urgent 
question which the Chair of Council considers could not have been 
reasonably submitted by the deadline for the receipt of written questions, 
providing that they give notice of the question by 12 noon the day before the 
meeting.

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



2.4 Procedural Standing Order 9 provides for up to 30 minutes for questions from 
county councillors at each ordinary meeting of the Council (excluding the first 
annual meeting of a new Council). Questions may be asked on any matter 
within the powers and duties of the Council or which affect the county.  As 
with public questions, a written copy of the question must be delivered to the 
Chief Executive by 10am four clear working days before the date of the 
meeting.

2.5 Urgent member questions are subject to the following requirements:
 It is a matter which the Chair decides is urgent
 The county councillor to whom the question is addressed has agreed
 Notification of the question has been given to the Chief Executive at 

least half an hour before the scheduled start of the meeting.

2.6 The same rules apply to all committees of the Council, except Scrutiny 
Committees, though in practice it is rare for questions to be submitted.

2.7 Cabinet Procedural Standing Order 9 in Part 4 of the Constitution provides for 
up to 30 minutes to be aside at each meeting of the Cabinet for written 
questions from members of the public and county councillors.  The questions 
must relate to the items on the Cabinet agenda and a written copy needs to 
be delivered to the Chief Executive by 4pm three clear working days before 
the date of the meeting.  For a Cabinet meeting on a Wednesday that means 
that the deadline for public questions is 4pm on the Thursday in the week 
before the meeting.

2.8 An urgent written question may be asked by a member of the public about any 
item on the Cabinet agenda for that meeting, which the Chair considers could 
not have been reasonably submitted by the deadline for the receipt of written 
questions, provided that they give notice of the question to the Chief 
Executive by 12 noon the day before the meeting.  

2.9 Under the Access to Information Regulations, the agenda and related reports 
for formal Council meetings (including full Council, Cabinet and committees) 
must be published at least five clear working days before the day of the 
meeting.  For a Council meeting on a Wednesday that means that the agenda 
papers must be published no later than the Tuesday in the week before the 
meeting.  

2.10 The timescale is tight for providing answers to questions but every effort is 
made to publish them and send them to questioners the day before the 
meeting.  We aim to do this no later than 5pm.  

Page 12



3 Issues for consideration

3.1 There have been an increasing number of public and councillor questions 
submitted to full Council and Cabinet meetings and this has put a great deal 
of pressure on Council officers in compiling responses in time for the meeting.  
The number of questions is often heavily skewed towards one or two areas of 
the business.  An increase in the number of days’ notice, if only by one or two 
days, would lessen the pressure on Council officers.

3.2 It is anticipated that members will be concerned that such a change would 
make it more difficult for the public and councillors to ask questions directly in 
response to an item on the agenda because the deadline for questions could 
fall before the publication of papers.  It is suggested that, under those 
circumstances, the conditions for allowing an urgent question would apply.  If 
the committee is minded to introduce this change, the relevant Procedural 
Standing Orders could be amended to clarify that point.

4 Recommendation

Members of the committee are asked to consider whether they wish to extend 
the notice period for questions at particular meetings, and if so, by how many 
days.

Report author – Simon Harper, Head of Democratic Services

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE PENSIONS COMMITTEE 

Meeting 17 January 2022 

Report author 

Matthew Trebilcock 
Head of Pensions, Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
Tel: 01452 328920 
Email: matthew.trebilcock@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Background 
documents 

Pensions Committee 24 September 2021 Agenda – Governance Review 

Location for 
inspection of 
background 
documents 

Agenda Item 12 - Governance Review.pdf (gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
& 
Gloucestershire PC Constitution paper v4 issued 150921 

Main consultees None 

Planned dates 
16 February 2022: Recommendation to the County Council meeting to 
adopt the Constitution Committee’s recommendation regarding changes 
to the Pensions Committee terms of reference (3.4) 

Purpose of report 
To propose changes to the County Councils Constitution regarding the 
terms of reference and representation of the Pensions Committee (3.4) 

Recommendation 
To make a recommendation to the County Council to adopt the changes 
to the Pensions Committee terms of reference and representation, as set 
out in the report 

Reasons for 
recommendation 

To ensure that the Pensions Committee are complying with best practise, 
and the anticipated requirements of the Good Governance Review being 
undertaken by the LGPS Scheme Advisory Board (SAB)   

Resource 
implications 

None 

 

 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s74967/Agenda%20Item%2012%20-%20Governance%20Review.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s74970/Agenda%20Item%2012%20-%20Governance%20Review%20-%20PC%20Committee%20Constitution%20-%20Appendix%203.pdf


 

1. Background 

 

1.1 On 9 March 2021, the Pensions Committee requested AON to undertake a review of the 

Governance arrangements of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund.  

 

1.2 A key aim of this work was to ensure the Committee was on the front foot in advance of the 

Good Governance Review that Hymans Robertson were completing for the Scheme Advisory 

Board. 

 

1.3 The final report from AON was presented to the Committee at their meeting on 18 June 2021. 

The overall conclusion was that the governance of the Fund is of a good standard in many areas, 

meets legal requirements in the matters that have been considered, and in a number of areas 

the Administering Authority is demonstrating best practice. AON noted that significant 

improvements in relation to the governance of the Fund appear to have been made recently. 

The final report also contains commentary and recommendations on certain areas that require 

improvement to meet legal requirements or practices or could be improved to meet good 

practice. 

 

1.4 One of the recommendations was in respect of the constitution of the Committee itself, to 

ensure wider representation of the scheme members and employers within the Fund, and 

feedback was initially sought from Committee at their meeting on 18 June. Based upon this 

feedback a further report and recommendations on this issue was tabled at the meeting of 24 

September 2021. 

 

1.5 This report is the outcome of the discussions held by the Pensions Committee and their 

recommendation in relation to the terms of reference and the representation on the Pensions 

Committee to now be considered. 

 
2. Outcome 

 
2.1 As part of the review/debate by the Pensions Committee on 24 September, it was also 

recommended by AON and agreed by Committee that the duties of the Pensions 
Committee as set out in the current Constitution should also be updated. AON observed 
that the majority of the duties currently listed for the Pensions Committee are 
investment focused, and there is limited reference to duties relating to administration, 
communication and governance matters.  
 

2.2 The Pensions Committee agreed that they wish for the duties to be made more explicit 
within the Constitution. It was noted that, in particular, there was no explicit mention of 
areas such as agreeing and monitoring the administration strategy, communications 
policy or the Fund’s business plan and budget. The latter point is one of the key 
recommendations of the SAB Good Governance review which states that each 
administering authority must ensure their Pensions Committee is included in the 
business planning process. 

 

Page 16



2.3 The Pensions Committee also agreed the following recommendation in relation to the 
representation on the Pensions Committee for onward recommendation to the 
Constitution Committee: 

 

• Retain a district council (employer) representative that is nominated by the 
Gloucestershire branch of the Local Government Association to represent the 
interests of District Councils  

• Retain a scheme member representative that is selected through nominations by 
the trade unions  

• Include an additional employer representative, with applications invited from all 
employers (excluding Gloucestershire County Council and the district councils)  

• Make all employer and employee representatives (i.e. the two existing 
representatives and the one new representatives) non-voting members of the 
Pension Committee.  
 

2.4 The proposed changes to the Terms of Reference and representation of the Pensions 
Committee are outlined on Appendix 1 to this report. 

 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 

 

3.4 PENSIONS COMMITTEE  

  

The purpose of the Pensions Committee is to give advice on the proper management of the Gloucestershire 

Pension Fund and carry out the function of the Council as Administering Authority.  

  

Table 3.04:  The duties of the Pensions Committee  

 

In accordance with the policies and budget of the Council from time to time:  

  

1. To ensure the Fund is managed, and that pension payments are made, in compliance with the 

Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations. 

 

2. To approve and keep under review the Investment Strategy Statement of the Fund, drawing 

upon appropriate professional advice. 

 

3. To approve and keep under review the Funding Strategy Statement of the Fund, drawing upon 

appropriate professional advice.  

  

4. To ensure robust risk management arrangements are in place. 

 

5. To ensure the Council operates with due regard and in the spirit of all relevant statutory and 

non-statutory best practice guidance in relation to its management of the Fund. 

 

6. To agree the Administering Authority responses to consultations by Central Government, 

professional and other bodies. 

1. To set the investment strategy and policies of the Fund, including the establishment and 

maintenance of a strategic benchmark for asset allocation, drawing upon appropriate 

professional advice.  

  

7. To appoint and review the performance of all Fund Managers and associated professional 

service providers. 

 

2.8.  To appoint and terminate the appointment of the Fund's advisers, including actuaries, 

investment advisers, governance advisers and specialist lawyers (where required) and 

periodically to review those arrangements 

  

3.9. To consider any other matter relevant to the proper operation and management of the Fund.  

  

4. To approve and keep under review the funding Strategy Statement.  

  

To approve and keep under review the Investment Strategy Statement.  

Page 19



10. To approve the Fund's annual business plan and budget and monitoring progress against it. 

 

11. To approve the Fund's Governance Policy Statement and Governance Compliance Statement 

within the framework as determined by the Council and making recommendations to the 

Council about any changes to that framework. 

 

12. To approve the Fund's Administration Strategy determining how the Council will administer the 

Fund including collecting payments due, calculating and paying benefits, gathering information 

from and providing information to scheme members and employers. 

 

13. To approve the Fund's Communications Policy Statement, determining the methods of 

communications with the various stakeholders including scheme members and employers. 

 

14. To approve the Fund’s Conflicts of Interest policy covering the management of actual and 

perceived conflicts of interest for the Pensions Committee, the Local Pension Board, and 

officers. 

 

5.15. To agree the Fund's Training Strategy for all Pension Committee and Board members and for 

all officers of the Fund, including determining the Fund’s knowledge and skills framework, 

identifying training requirements, developing training plans and monitoring compliance with the 

policy. 

  

6.16. To report annually to the full Council.  

  

7.17. To review the County Council’s performance as Administering Authority.  

  

8.18. To decide upon arrangements for managing the Administering Authority’s relationship with 

employers in the fund, e.g. agreeing contribution rates, establishing dispute resolution 

procedures and ensuring employers have established policies as required by Regulations.  

  

9.19. To decide upon requests for admission of qualifying organisations wishing to join the 

Fund.Determining, reviewing and monitoring the Fund's policy in regard to employer admission 

and cessation arrangements.  

  

10.20. To decide upon key pension policy and discretions that is the responsibility of the 

Administering Authority.  

  

11.21. To consider advice and recommendations from the Pension Board on areas that may improve 

the governance of the Pension Fund (the remit of the Pension Board is detailed in its Terms of 

Reference).  

  

12.22. To consider the Pension Board’s proposed business plan for the forthcoming financial year 

and annual budget request.  

  

Page 20



13. To undertake such tasks as the Committee thinks appropriate to progress implementation of  

14.23. investment pooling, and to take such decisions and do all other things deemed necessary in 

order to promote the interests of the County Council with respect to investment pooling, which 

without limitation shall include agreeing and authorising any documentation, contracts, terms 

of reference, financial expenditure or investment that may be required consequential upon the 

County Council’s participation in the Brunel Pension Partnership. 

 

  

Pensions Committee Membership:  

  

7 County Councillors  

  

One employer representative Member without voting rights to be co-opted by the Pensions Committee 

following nomination by the Gloucestershire branch of the Local Government Association to represent the 

interests of District Councils. 

 

One employer representative without voting rights who can demonstrate their capacity to represent other 

scheme employers, and their knowledge and understanding of the Local Government Pension Scheme, 

with applications invited from all employers (excluding GCC and the district councils). An interview process 

that would include the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Pensions Committee and the Head of Pensions would 

be used to fill the position . 

  

One employeestaff representative without voting rights to be co-opted by the Pensions Committee 

following nomination by the unions.  

 

Employer and Employee representatives shall serve for a 4 year term from their appointment date and 

can be removed on grounds of non-attendance, breach of code of conduct and non-participation in 

training. An employer or employee representative may only be removed from office during a term of 

appointment by the unanimous agreement of all voting members in attendance at the Pensions 

Committee meeting where this is being considered.  

  

Note: Because of the specialist nature of this work, no substitution is permitted.  

  

  

   

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Executive Decision Making by an Officer with Delegated Powers 
 

 
Decision to be taken by: Rob Ayliffe, Monitoring Officer 
 
Pursuant to Article 15.02.1 of the Council’s Constitution  
 
Report title: Update to the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules 

 
 

The decision To update the Contract Procedure Rules within the Council’s 
constitution with effect from 1 January 2022 to reflect new 
procurement financial thresholds arising from the Public 
Procurement (Agreement on Government Procurement) 
(Thresholds) (Amendment) Regulations 2021 (SI 2021/1221).  

Background  
documents 

Public Procurement (Agreement on Government Procurement) 
(Thresholds) (Amendment) Regulations 2021 (SI 2021/1221) 

Reasons for  
the decision 

These changes are necessary to ensure that the Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules comply with new thresholds introduced 
from 1 January 2022. 

 

Resource 
implications 

None 

Who has been  

consulted? 

 

 
Not Applicable 

 

What were their comments? 

Not applicable 

Background/Context 

On 8 December 2021, County Council approved changes to the Council’s Contract Procedure 

Rules.  On 1 January 2022, new thresholds will come into force for the advertising and 
tendering of contracts.  These changes update the Contract Procedure Rules to comply with 
the new thresholds. 

Under Article 15.02.1 the Monitoring Officer has authority to make changes to any part of the 

Constitution if they consider it necessary to comply with the law.   

As I consider that to be the case in this instance, I am authorising the changes set out in the 

appendix to this report to be made to the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules within the 
Constitution. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 8

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2021/1221/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2021/1221/contents/made


2 
 

As required by Article 15.02.2, I will report the changes to the Constitution Committee at its 

meeting on 17 January 2022 and will seek ratification of this decision by County Council at its 
meeting on 16 February 2022. 

 

Alternative options considered and why they were rejected 

Not applicable 

Risk Analysis 

Failure to apply these changes would mean that the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules 
would not be compliant with UK procurement law as they would not reflect the financial 
thresholds introduced by the regulations cited above. 

 

Equalities considerations 

Not applicable 

 

Has a Due Regard Statement been completed? No 

 

 

 Has any conflict of interest been declared 
by any Cabinet Member consulted on the 
decision? 

 

If any conflict of interest declared, was a 
dispensation granted by the Audit and 
Governance Committee of the Council? 

No 

 

 

Date of dispensation: N/A 

Does this decision report form or any 

supporting papers provided contain 
confidential or exempt information?   

No 

Does this decision need to be published on 
the GCC website? 

Yes 

Page 24



3 
 

 
In coming to this decision I have given due and full regard to the requirements of the Public 

Sector Equality Duty contained in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (“the Act”) by 
reference to the law itself and also the relevant Due Regard Statement, which 
was/were prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Act.  

 
Having fully considered all available information, I have decided to reject any alternative 

options and take the recommended decision(s), for the reasons set out in this report.  

 

 

 

 

Signed: 

 

Rob Ayliffe, Monitoring Officer 

 

 

Date: 17st December 2021 

 

Contact details for further information: 

Officer: Rob Ayliffe 

Tel: 01452 328506 

Email: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

 

 

Page 25

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk


4 
 

Page 26



5 
 

Interim Contract Procedure Rules (ICPRs) V1.9   

Application ........................................................................................................................................ 5 

1. Background ............................................................................................................................ 6 

2. Scope ..................................................................................................................................... 6 

3. Accountability & Responsibility .............................................................................................. 6 

4. Basic Principles ...................................................................................................................... 8 

5. Exemptions to these Contract Procedure Rules ...................................................................... 8 

6. Requirements to consult the Director of Policy, Performance and Governance and the 

Assistant Director of Legal Services ................................................................................................ 8 

7. Procuring via Frameworks, Collaborative Procurements, and Dynamic Purchasing Systems ... 9 

The Contracting Process .................................................................................................................... 9 

8. Competition Requirements .................................................................................................... 9 

9. Localism ............................................................................................................................... 12 

10. Framework Agreements and Dynamic Purchasing Systems .............................................. 13 

11. The Quotation Process ..................................................................................................... 13 

12. Tendering Exercises .......................................................................................................... 14 

13. Contracts Register ............................................................................................................ 16 

14. Conditions of Contract & Contract Formalities.................................................................. 16 

Other Requirements ........................................................................................................................ 18 

15. Prevention of Corruption & Declaration of Interests ......................................................... 18 

16. Procurement Guidance .................................................................................................... 18 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Application 

 

Page 27



6 
 

1.  Background 

 
1.1 The purpose of these Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs) is to ensure that all 

Council contracts are demonstrably made: 
 a) in compliance with the law and best practice; 
 b) maximising fairness, transparency and competition; 
 c) to improve quality and value for money;  
 d) to enable the Council to develop and deliver its Commercial Strategy; and 
 e) in compliance with the Council’s Financial Regulations.  

 

2. Scope 

 
2.1  These Contract Procedure Rules apply to all relevant contracts made 

(including all orders placed) by, for or on behalf of the Council,  or where the 
Council is acting on behalf of other public bodies. Relevant contracts include 
arrangements for: 
a)   the supply or disposal of goods 
b)   the hire, rental or lease of goods or equipment 
c)   the provision of works and the supply of works materials 
d)   the provision of services, including consultancy services 
e)   the granting of works concessions or services concessions 
f)    the selection of sub-contractors by the Council, where these are 

nominated under a main/prime contract. 
 

2.2  Relevant contracts include contracts between the Council and any other 
contracting party, including: 
a)   Other public bodies, including other local authorities  
b)   Voluntary and community sector organisations acting as suppliers to the 
      Council 
c)   Private sector suppliers to the Council. 
 

2.3  Relevant contracts do not include: 
a)   agreements regarding the acquisition, disposal, or transfer of land, pre-

existing property leases, and licenses; or 
b)   the award of grants by the Council 
The rules governing these are covered by separate procedural guidelines 
approved (from time to time) by the Cabinet, Leader of the Council or a 
Cabinet Member.  

  
2.4 These Contract Procedure Rules apply to Council Maintained Schools except 

where the Council Scheme for Financing Schools (from time to time under 
Section 48 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998) applies.  

 
 

 

3. Accountability & Responsibility 

 

Page 28



7 
 

3.1 These Contract Procedure Rules apply to all Officers of the Council. Officers 
must ensure that any agents, consultants and contractual partners acting as 
procurement agents on behalf of the Council also comply with these Contract 
Procedure Rules. 
 

3.2  It is a disciplinary offence for Officers not to comply with these Contract 
Procedure Rules. 

 
3.3  Directors must ensure that their staff comply with these Contract Procedure 

Rules. 
 
3.4  An Officer must not seek or accept technical advice on the preparation of a 

request for quotation or an Invitation to Tender from any party which may 
have a commercial interest in the procurement if this may prejudice the equal 
treatment of all potential suppliers or distort competition. 
 

3.5  Directors must ensure that appropriate Officers (“Authorised Officers”) have 
received delegated authority under the Council’s Scheme of Delegation which 
authorises them to:  
a)   make orders on behalf of the Council for the supply of goods, services 
and works; 
b)   award contracts on behalf of the Council for the supply of goods, services 
and works;   
c)   pay invoices received from suppliers in respect of goods, services and 
works provided to or on behalf of the Council;  
d)   approve tender and quotation procedures and all related documentation; 
e)    approve contract terms and conditions; 
f)    receive, retain and open tender submissions (CPR 12.4); 
g) manage contracts in accordance with the Council’s Contract Management 

Framework from time to time. 
 

 
3.6  Authorised Officers may award contracts and place orders and requisitions 

that comply with these Contract Procedure Rules provided that: 
a)   the financial values and commitments are within approved budgetary      

estimates and within their delegated responsibility; 
b)   they are within the Council’s legal powers; 
c)   where the contract involves the transfer of Council staff, or former Council 

  staff who have previously been the subject of an outsourcing of service,  
the Authorised Officer is acting in accordance the Direction made by the 
Secretary of State under section 102 of the Local Government Act 2003 
(pension provision) or any replacement. 

 
3.7  Directors must ensure that Authorised Officers have the necessary skills, 

competencies, and knowledge to undertake procurement and/or contract 
management related duties of the scope, risk and complexity assigned to 
them. This should include attendance on appropriate relevant training 
courses, both internal and external, on areas such as procurement, finance, 
risk, business continuity and GDPR. 
 

Page 29



8 
 

4. Basic Principles 

 
4.1  All purchasing and disposal activities must: 

a) achieve Best Value for public money spent in accordance with the duty on 
local authorities under Part I of the Local Government Act 1999 to secure 
continuous improvement in the way in which functions are exercised, having 
regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness as 
implemented by the Council 
b)   support the Council’s corporate aims and policies 
c)   be consistent with the highest standards of integrity 
d)   ensure fairness and transparency in allocating public contracts 
e)   comply with all legal requirements 
f)    produce and maintain adequate records and a clear audit trail 
g)   be consistent with any procedures or guidance set out in accounting 
instructions and any procedures or guidance issued by the Assistant Director 
of Strategic Procurement.  
 

5. Exemptions to these Contract Procedure Rules 

 
5.1 No Direct Contract Awards (where competition is not undertaken) over 

£25,000 (excluding VAT) can be made unless authorised in writing by the 
Director of Policy, Performance and Governance after considering a written 
report by the appropriate Director. 

 
5.2 A register of all Direct Contract Awards over £25,000 (excluding VAT) will be 

maintained by the Director of Policy, Performance and Governance and will 
be reported to the Audit and Governance Committee on an annual basis. 

 
5.3 These Contract Procedure Rules do not apply where the Council Scheme for 

Financing Schools (from time to time under Section 48 of the School 
Standards and Framework Act 1998) applies. 

 

6. Requirements to consult the Director of Policy, Performance and 

Governance and the Assistant Director of Legal Services  

 
CPR 6 identifies occasions where the Contract Procedure Rules create a 
mandatory obligation to consult with the Director of Policy, Performance and 
Governance and the Assistant Director of Legal Services.  

 
6.1  Subject to CPR 12.4, all quotations, expressions of interest and tenders must 

be received by the date and time given in the original advertisement.  
 

6.2  Authorised Officers must obtain the agreement of the Director of Policy, 
Performance and Governance before using any third party to conduct any 
procurement exercise on the Council’s behalf. 

 
6.3 Authorised Officers shall consult with the Assistant Director of Legal Services 

immediately they become aware that any significant dispute or claim may 

Page 30



9 
 

arise in relation to a contract or procurement exercise or during the life of a 
contract. 

 
6.4 Minor contract variations that have regard to small administrative changes can 

be undertaken by an Authorised Officer such as contact name changes, 
address changes, small service or specification changes. All major contract 
variations (i.e. anything beyond a minor change) that have regard to changes 
in price, term or terms and conditions must be referred to the Director of 
Policy, Performance and Governance.  
       

 

7. Procuring via Frameworks, Collaborative Procurements, and Dynamic 

Purchasing Systems  

 
7.1  Before carrying out a procurement process, Authorised Officers shall establish 

whether there is a suitable framework agreement, dynamic purchasing system 
or existing contract to which the Council is a party that provides a mechanism 
for ordering goods, services and works and, if so, consider whether the use of 
such framework agreement, dynamic purchasing system or existing contract 
is appropriate and adheres to the principles of Best Value.   

 
7.2 Without prejudice to CPR 7.3, where a collaborative contract, dynamic 

purchasing system or framework agreement has been let by another public 
authority or central buying organisation through competition, and in 
accordance with its own contract procedure rules and legal requirements, 
such contractual agreement shall be deemed to comply with the Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules. 

 
7.3  Before using any collaborative contract, an Authorised Officer must first verify 

that: 
a)   the contract was procured in accordance with all relevant UK law; 
      and 
b)   the contract was advertised appropriately, and specifically that the scope 

of the advert allowed the contract’s use by the Council; and 
c)   the contract has been let on appropriate conditions of contract; and 
d)   the contract offers, or is reasonably likely to offer, better overall value for 
      money, or benefit to the Council, than the Council could achieve through 
      independent procurement. 
 
 
 
 
 

The Contracting Process 

8. Competition Requirements  

Goods, Services and /or Works 

Page 31



10 
 

 
8.1     Calculating the Estimated Total Contract Value of any contract for goods, 

services and/or works (the “Estimated Total Contract Value”). The Estimated 
Total Contract Value shall be calculated as follows: 
 
a) the Estimated Total Contract Value of a contract for goods, services 

and/or works shall be calculated exclusive of VAT if its value (plus VAT) 
does not exceed the relevant threshold prescribed by UK public 
procurement legislation; 
 

b) the Estimated Total Contract Value of a contract for goods, services 
and/or works shall be calculated inclusive of VAT if its value (plus VAT) 
exceeds the relevant threshold prescribed by UK public procurement 
legislation; 
 

a)c) the Estimated Total Contract Value excluding VAT shall include the 
estimated value of any options (including extension options), lots or 
renewals under the relevant contract; 

 
 

b)d) the Estimated Total Contract Value of a framework agreement or 
dynamic purchasing system shall be the total value T, exclusive of VAT), 
of all of the call-off contracts that may be awarded under that framework 
agreement or dynamic purchasing system.  The Estimated Total Contract 
Value of call-off contracts that may be awarded under a framework 
agreement or dynamic purchasing system shall be calculated exclusive of 
VAT if their aggregate value (plus VAT) does not exceed the relevant 
threshold prescribed by UK public procurement legislation.  If however the 
aggregate value (plus VAT) of call-off contracts that may be awarded 
under a framework agreement or dynamic purchasing system exceeds the 
relevant threshold prescribed by UK public procurement legislation its 
Estimated Total Contract Value shall be calculated inclusive of VAT; and 

 

c)e) the Estimated Total Contract Value of a works concession contract or a 
services concession contract shall be the total estimated turnover of the 
supplier generated over the duration of the contract (plus VATinclusive of 
VAT if its value (plus VAT) exceeds the relevant threshold prescribed by 
UK public procurement legislation or exclusive of VAT if its value (plus 
VAT) does not exceed the relevant threshold prescribed by UK public 
procurement legislation), net of VAT, in consideration of the works and 
services which are the object of a works concession contract or (as 
appropriate) a services concession contract and for the supplies incidental 
to such works and services.  

 
8.2 The rules when calculating the Estimated Total Contract Value are: 
 

a) purchases of the same or similar type of goods, services and/or works 
must be aggregated and the Estimated Total Contract Value shall not be 
calculated with the intention of excluding it from the scope of these 
Contract Procedure Rules; 

Page 32



11 
 

 
b) where there is a common requirement for goods, services and/or works 

across the Council, the Estimated Total Contract Value shall be the 
aggregate of all purchases across the whole Council in respect of such 
goods, services and/or works; 

 
c) a contract for goods, services and/or works shall not be sub-divided or its 

Estimated Total Contract Value artificially under estimated or 
disaggregated into two or more separate contracts with the intention of 
avoiding the scope of these Contract Procedure Rules and/or relevant 
legislation; and 

 
d) the Estimated Total Contract Value of a contract for goods, services and/or 

works shall be the value as determined when the advertisement in respect 
of that contract is issued or when the Council commences its procurement 
procedure, in respect thereof, whichever is earlier; 

      
e) the Estimated Total Contract Value of a works concession contract or a 

services concession contract shall be determined when the advertisement 
is issued or when the Council commences its procurement procedure, 
whichever is earlier unless it is a Regulated Procurement, in which case 
the Estimated Total Contract Value shall be calculated in accordance with 
the provisions of The Concession Contracts Regulations 2016. 

 

8.3 All contracts for goods, services and/or works that have an Estimated Total 

Contract Value equal to or in excess of the relevant  threshold prescribed by 

UK public procurement legislation and the provisions of these Contract 

Procedure Rules shall be procured in accordance with such legislation.  

 
8.4 All contracts for goods, services, and/or works that have an Estimated Total 

Contract Value that is less than the relevant threshold prescribed by UK public 
procurement legislation shall be procured in accordance with the provisions of 
these Contract Procedure Rules. 
 

8.5 Contracts for goods and/or services that have an Estimated Total Contract 
Value ex VAT: 
a) that is less than £5,000 (excluding VAT) the Authorised Officer should 

obtain at least one quotation from a suitable supplier (email is sufficient) 
or on the basis of a pre-quoted price (such as in a supplier’s catalogue); 

b) at of £5,000 (excluding VAT) and over but less than £25,000 (excluding 
VAT) may be procured after obtaining a single written quotation  which 
must be obtained  using the Council’s e-procurement system. 

c) at of £25,000 (excluding VAT) and over but less than £100,000 (excluding 
VAT) may be procured after obtaining three written quotations which must 
be obtained using the Council’s e-procurement system;  

d) at of £100,000 (excluding VAT) and over but less than the relevant 

threshold prescribed by UK public procurement legislation must be 

Page 33



12 
 

procured after having undertaken a competitive tender process using the 

Council’s e-procurement system; 

e) which is equal to or exceeds  the  relevant threshold prescribed by UK 
public procurement legislation must be procured after having undertaken 
a competitive tender process using the Council’s e-procurement system. 
 

8.6 Contracts for works that have an Estimated Total Contract Value: 
a) less than £250,000 (excluding VAT) may be procured after obtaining three 
written quotations which must be obtained using the Council’s e-procurement 
system. 
 
b) at £250,000 (excluding VAT) and up to the relevant  threshold prescribed 
by UK public procurement legislation may be procured after having 
undertaken a competitive tender procurement process using the council’s e-
procurement system. 
 
c) which is equal to or exceeds the  relevant threshold prescribed by UK 
public procurement legislation must be procured after having undertaken a 
competitive  tender procurement process using the Council’s e-procurement 
system. 

 
8.7 Contract extensions may only be considered if the relevant contract contains 

an extension option or if there are legitimate grounds for an extension as 
provided by UK public procurement legislation.  Any such extension must be 
authorised in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation. 
 

8.8 A Direct Contract Award must only be considered as a last resort when all 
other procurement strategies have been excluded and provided such contract 
award would not give rise to a breach of UK public procurement law. A Direct 
Contract Award whose Estimated Total Contract Value (plus VAT)ex VAT is 
less than the relevant threshold prescribed by UK public procurement law is 
permissible provided that: 
 
a) it has been determined through market analysis/engagement that only one 

particular supplier is capable of providing the required goods, services or 
works; or 

b) for reasons of extreme urgency brought about by events unforeseeable by 
the Council there is insufficient time to conduct a competitive procurement 
process (provided the reason for such urgency is not attributable to the 
Council); or 

c) in limited cases, to protect intellectual property rights that an incumbent 
supplier holds.  

   

9. Localism  

 
9.1 When seeking quotes for goods and services with an Estimated Total 

Contract Value ex VAT at of £25,000 (excluding VAT) and over, Authorised 
Officers should use reasonable endeavours to seek at least one quote from a 
Gloucestershire based supplier. For goods and services less than £25,000 

Page 34



13 
 

(excluding VAT), Authorised Officers may wish to consider obtaining two 
quotes one of which is from a Gloucestershire based supplier.   

 

10. Framework Agreements and Dynamic Purchasing Systems  

 
10.1 Framework agreements may be procured by the Council, or by other public 

bodies or public sector buying consortia as arrangements under which named 
public bodies (including the Council) may award call-off contracts.  
 

10.2  The procurement by the Council of a new framework agreement must be in 
accordance with any guidance issued by the Assistant Director of Strategic 
Procurement.  

 
10.3 The term of a framework agreement must not exceed 4 years.  

 
10.4  Dynamic purchasing systems (DPSs) may be procured by the Council, or by 

other public bodies, or public sector buying consortia, as arrangements under 
which named public bodies (including the Council) may award call-off 
contracts.   

 
10.5  A DPS must be operated as a completely electronic process and requires a 

new competitive procurement procedure to be carried out before awarding 
any call-off contract under it. Direct contract awards under a DPS are not 
permissible.  

 
10.6 Additional suppliers may be admitted to a DPS throughout its term. 
 
10.7 The term of a DPS shall be a period that is proportionate to the nature of the 

goods, services or works to be procured under it. 
 
10.8 The procurement by the Council of a new DPS must be in accordance with 

any guidance issued by the Assistant Director of Strategic Procurement.  
 

11. The Quotation Process 

 
11.1    Save in respect of quotations sought by or on behalf of any Council 

Maintained School in respect of goods and/or services (in relation to which the 
Council Scheme for Financing Maintained Schools shall apply), the quotation 
process described in this CPR 11 and CPRs 8.5(a), 8.5(b) and 8.6(a) shall be 
complied with when: 

 
a) the Estimated Total Contract Value for goods and/or services is less than 
£100,000 (excluding VAT), or 
b) the Estimated Total Contract Value for works is £250,000 (excluding VAT) 
or less. 

 
11.2 Save in respect of quotations sought by the Council in respect of contracts for 

goods and/or services of the value described in CPR 8.5(a), requests for a 

Page 35



14 
 

quotation must be carried out using the Council’s e-procurement system in 
accordance with guidance from the Assistant Director of Strategic 
Procurement.  

 

12. Tendering Exercises 

 
12.1  All competitive tender procurement exercises must be conducted 

electronically through the Council’s e-procurement system unless the use of 
an alternative process has been previously approved in writing by the Director 
of Policy, Performance and Governance. 
 

12.2  Receiving Expressions of Interest 
All expressions of interest must be received by the date and time given in     
the original advertisement. An Authorised Officer may consider exceptions to 
this CPR in situations where the late submission is genuinely outside the 
control of the supplier concerned, but only with the agreement of the Assistant 
Director of Legal Services. 

 
12.3 Issuing Invitations to Tender 

a)   Where a tendering process involves a process of qualification and 
selection before the award phase, an Authorised Officer shall only issue 
an invitation to tender to those suppliers that have met the required 
selection criteria, including any minimum standards set. Suppliers may be 
shortlisted to be invited to tender on the basis of marks awarded against 
the selection criteria 

 
b) An Authorised Officer shall ensure that an invitation to tender is based on 

a robust procurement strategy based on model instructions for tendering 
approved by the Assistant Director of Strategic Procurement.  

    
 c)   Suppliers shall be allowed sufficient time to complete their tenders, taking 

  into account the complexity of the requirement and the contract, and the    
time required for them to prepare their response. A minimum of ten 
working days must be allowed from the date on which the invitation was 
sent. 

 
d)   All suppliers being invited to tender by the Council must be issued with the 

same information at the same time and subject to the same conditions. 
Any clarification, supplementary information, or changes to the content or 
detail of the invitation, must be given on the same basis. 

 
e)  All communications with the suppliers must be through the Council’s e-

procurement system.  
 

12.4  Receiving Tenders 
a)  Where in accordance with CPR 12.1 tenders are to be submitted 
electronically, Authorised Officers shall ensure that they are stored securely in 
the Council’s e-procurement system and remain un-opened until the specified 
date and time, after which they shall be opened by an officer who has been 

Page 36



15 
 

authorised to do so by the Assistant Director of Legal Services in accordance 
with a procedure agreed by the Director of Policy, Performance and 
Governance. 
 
b)  If any tenderer has not followed the instructions issued within an invitation 
to tender detailing how their tenders should be delivered, packaged, marked 
and referenced, such tenders must normally be excluded from further 
participation in the tender process to which such instructions related. 
However, in exceptional circumstances, the Assistant Director of Legal 
Services may permit an occurrence of non-minor compliance with such 
instructions provided that the principle of equal treatment of tenderers and the 
integrity and confidentiality of the tendering process would not be infringed.  
 
 
c)  Any tender that does not comply with the instructions set out in the 
relevant invitation to tender (save for incidences of minor non-compliance of 
the type described in CPR 12.4(b), shall be rejected and returned to the 
tendering supplier together with an explanation for its rejection. 
 
d) Any tender received by the Council after the published tender submission 
deadline shall not be opened or considered unless, in the opinion of Assistant 
Director of Legal Services or Principal Lawyer or Legal Services Business 
Partner, considering relevant evidence provided by the Authorised Officer, the 
failure to meet the deadline was due to: 
(i) the Council’s fault; 
(ii) an act of God, flood, drought, earthquake or other natural disaster; 
(iii) epidemic or pandemic; 
(iv) terrorist attack, civil war, civil commotion or riots, war, threat of or 
preparation for war, armed conflict, imposition of sanctions, embargo, or 
breaking off of diplomatic relations; 
(v) nuclear, chemical or biological contamination or sonic boom; 
(vi) any law or action by government; 
(vii) the collapse of buildings, fire, explosion or accident; or  
(viii) an interruption or failure of utility service in circumstances which are 
beyond the control of the tenderer (but only in circumstances where such 
tender was submitted electronically). 
 
  

12.5   Award 
a)   Any contract(s) advertised via the Council’s e-procurement system shall 

be awarded to the supplier(s) whose tender(s) is/are the most 
economically advantageous, (assessed from the point of view of the 
Council) as determined with reference to the published award criteria. 

 
b)   Such contract awards may be made only on the basis of:  

 i) price; 
ii)  cost; or 
iii) best price-quality ratio 

 

Page 37



16 
 

c)   If awarding a contract on the basis of the ‘best price-quality ratio’, an 
Authorised Officer shall apply criteria linked to the subject matter of the 
contract.  

 
d)    If, having completed a tender evaluation exercise, a tenderer has been 

identified by the Council as offering the most economically advantageous 
tender, a contract may be awarded to them.  

 
d) When awarding any contract for goods, services or works whose       

aggregate value exceeds the relevant  threshold prescribed under the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015, an Authorised Officer shall adhere to  
a minimum ten (10) day Standstill Period before entering into such contract 
and issue a Standstill Notice at the outset of such period to all tenderers 
and candidates which explains the Council’s full reasons for its award  
decision, and which also includes details of the characteristics and relative 
advantages of the successful tender. 

 
 

13. Contracts Register 

 
13.1 In accordance with The Local Government Transparency Code 2015, 

Authorised Officers must: 
 
“Publish details of any contract awards, commissioned activity, purchase 
order, framework agreement and any other legally enforceable agreement 
with a value that exceeds £5,000 (excluding VAT)ex VAT” 

 
which must comply with the requirements set out in any guidance issued by 
the Director of Policy, Performance and Governance. 
 

14.  Conditions of Contract & Contract Formalities 

 
14.1 All contracts must be formally concluded in writing before the supply, service 

or work begins. 
 
14. 2  Contracts shall be written in plain language and shall adopt either: 

a)   conditions of contract produced by professional bodies and agreed by the 
      Assistant Director of Legal Services; or  
b)   conditions of contract developed by or agreed by the Assistant Director of 

Legal Services for specific types of procurement or specific procurement 
projects; or 

c)   conditions of contract within collaborative contracts let by other public 
      contracting authorities; or 
d)   exceptionally, and where unavoidable, conditions of contract requested by 
      suppliers; but only where the use of these conditions has been  
      agreed in advance by the Assistant Director of Legal Services. 
 

14.3  CPRs 14.1 and 14.2 do not apply to low value, one-off retail 

Page 38



17 
 

purchases where a purchasing card is used. 
 

14.4  All contracts, irrespective of value, shall as a minimum clearly specify: 
a)   a full description of what is to be supplied (i.e. the works, materials,     

services, matters or things to be furnished, received or completed) 
b)   the quantities to be provided 
c)   the provisions for payment (i.e. the price to be paid and when) 
d)   the time(s) and location(s) for delivery or performance 
e)   the provisions for the Council to terminate the contract 
f)    the provisions for indemnity and insurance for service contracts 
g)   the contract term or, as appropriate, the required timeframe for delivering 

milestone deliverables 
h) such other conditions and terms as may be agreed between the parties 

which shall include, where relevant, a reference to continuous 
improvement in accordance with the Best Value legislation.  

 
14.5 Where contracts are awarded which involve the transfer of Council staff, or of 

former Council staff who were previously the subject of an outsourcing of 
service, they shall include provisions to ensure that the relevant regulations 
are complied with and that the Council is appropriately indemnified. Where the 
Council is a third party to any transfer, the contract shall in addition ensure 
that the Council has access to staff and employee information on request 

 
14.6  Every relevant contract must provide for the Council to cancel the contract 

and recover any resulting losses if the supplier or his or her employees or 
agents, with or without his or her knowledge: 
a) does, or has done, anything improper to influence the Council to give him 

or her the contract; 
b) commits an offence under the Bribery Act 2010 or Section 117(2) of the 

Local Government Act 1972. 
  
14.7 In appropriate cases, after consultation with the Assistant Director of Legal 

Services, the supplier shall be required to give sufficient security for the due 
performance of his or her contract. 

 
14.8  Where a relevant contract value exceeds:  

a) £100,000 (excluding VAT)  in total but is less than £500,000 (excluding 
VAT) it must be signed by at least two Officers of the Council, being the 
relevant Authorised Officer and one other Officer above salary scale point 
33; or  

b) £500,000 (excluding VAT) in total it shall be executed under the common 
seal of the Council.   

 
14.9  Unless otherwise agreed by the Assistant Director of Legal Services, a contract 

must be executed under the common seal of the Council  where: 
a)   the Council  wishes to reserve the right to enforce the contract more than 
six years after its end; or 
b) there is any doubt as to whether valid consideration is being created 

under the contract. 
 

Page 39



18 
 

14.10  Contract sealing shall be carried out by the Assistant Director of Legal 
Services or those persons who have been given authority to do so from time 
to time.  

Other Requirements 

 

15. Prevention of Corruption & Declaration of Interests 

 
15.1  Officers shall comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct for Employees and 

the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement and Strategy. In particular: 
a)   no Officer shall use or be seen to use their position to obtain any personal     

or private benefit (including benefit accruing to connected third parties) 
from any contract entered into by the Council; 

b)   Officers’ attention is drawn to the provisions of the Code of Conduct 
relating to the separation of roles during tendering. 

 
15.2  With regards to any contract that has been proposed or entered into by the 

Council, Officers must disclose in writing to their Director any instances: 
a)   where they have any relationship with a supplier; or 
b)   where they have any personal interest (financial or non-financial) which     

could reasonably be considered to conflict with the Council’s interests. 
 

16. Procurement Guidance 

 
16.1    In support of these Contract Procedure Rules, the Assistant Director of 

Strategic Procurement may issue guidance, procedures and standard 
documents as Procurement Guidance. Authorised Officers shall comply with 
such guidance when undertaking procurement activities and contract 
management. 
 

Page 40


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Independent Remuneration Panel 2021/22 report
	6 Public and member questions
	7 Pensions Committee report
	Constitution Committee - Proposed changes to the Pensions Committee Terms of Reference - Appendix 1

	8 Update to the Council's Contract Procedure Rules

